#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79849

MARIO ALBO LARA,

v.

Appellant,

FILED

OID

SID J WHITE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

FEB 7 1996
CLERK SUPREME COURT

Appellee.

Office Deputy Officials

ON APPEAL FROM THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Billy H.Nolas
Fla. Bar No. 806821
JulieD.Naylor
Fla. Bar No. 794351
437 Chestnut Street
Suite 501
Philadelphia, PA 19106
(215) 451-6500

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# REQUESTFOR ORAL ARGUMENT

| A      | Appellant respectfully requests that the Court allow oral argument in this capit | al |
|--------|--|----|
| appeal | •  |    |

#

| 7cmt v. Stephens. 462 IJ S. 862 (1983).  | 3 74        |

#### **STATEMENT** OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mario Lara was convicted of second degree murder in the death of his girlfriend, Olga Elviro, and first degree murder in **the** death of Grisel Fumero. Lara v. State, 464 So. 2d 1173, 1174, 1175 (Fla. 1985). **The** trial court imposed a death sentence. This Court affirmed. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Lara received ineffective assistance of counsel at capital sentencing and the death sentence was vacated. State v. <u>Lara</u>, 581 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1991).

The jury was provided the bare, vague terms of the "cold, calculated, premeditated" aggravator, over defense objections and requests for the limiting construction. The jury voted 7-5 for death (R 2984). The trial court imposed a death sentence (R 2912).

### The State's Case For Aggravation

Roger Mittleman works for the medical examiner's office(R 958-59). He testified at length about Olga Elviro (R 961, et seq.). He testified that she was found upstairs between two beds; was covered by a pillow and sheets; had been tied; and there were multiple stab wounds in **the** chest area (R 961-965). Graphic photographs of Olga Elviro were shown to the jury (R 962, 963, 964-65), including challenged photos depicting "the bindings in place ... the exposure of the genitals ..." (R 964). The witness then discussed the autopsy of Olga Elviro & length (R 965-71). He testified that Ms. Elviro had abrasions,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The original jury found Mr. Lara guilty of second degree murder in the death of Olga Elviro. Defense counsel's objections and admonitions about not making that offense a feature of this trial were not heeded, as the State's presentation showed. This issue is discussed in the Argument section of this brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Defense counsel objected to the photos as gruesome (inflammatory); because they had not been published *at* the original trial; because photos from the original trial were available; and because they improperly made the Elviro offense a focus of this resentencing for the death of Grisel Fumero (R 953-57; see also R 2841 (reproducing two of the photographs)). The trial court allowed the photographs in (R 957).

"a bruise on her leftbreast and in addition there were three stab wounds" (R 965). A knife "consistent with the wound" was shown to the jury (R 966-67).

The photos were shown to the jury again and each stab wound was discussed in detail (R 968-70). After this testimony about the decedent who was not the reason for the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor asked some questions about Grisel Fumero, the decedent for which Mr. Lara was being sentenced. Grisel Fumero "had a total of four gunshot wounds" (R 972), all to the front chest area of her body (R 974, 975). There was no facial wound (R 976). The gun was probably two to three feetfrom the body when she was shot (R 974). Photos of the gunshot wounds were shown to the jury (R 975). The cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds (R 977).

Raquel Carranza was then called by the prosecution. Defense counsel renewed his objections to this testimony, which **the** court overruled (R 978). Ms. Carranza worked at a veterinary supply store in 1980 (R 979). "[T] wo gentlemen" knocked on the door and she let them in (R 980). She talked to them—"[t] hey wanted to buy some products" (R 981). "Mr. Rizzo (Francisco/Frank Rizzo) ... was the one that did all of the talking" (R 981). He "told me that they were looking for a product but they couldn't remember the name" (R 981). Mr. Lara was the other person with Rizzo; Mr. Lara "was very thin" (R 982).

Ms. Carranza testified that she was "at their mercy" (R 983). Mr. Lara said "dinero" to her (R 983; 986). Mr. Lara had α gun -- "Then Mr. Rizzo took his [Mr. Lara's] gun" (R 984). "Rizzo grabbed me by my shoulders and he sit me down on a bench" (R 984). Rizzo "poke[d] [her] with the gun" (R 984). Lara took some money (R 984, 985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The witness testified that she knew Dr. Francisco Amigo (R 987). During the prior Rule 3.850 proceedings, Dr. Amigo testified. He was a veterinarian and Mr. Lara's sponsor. He described Mr. Lara as strange, disturbed and unable to function properly. Mr. Lara took drugs and *drank*. During **the** time period of this robbery, Mr. Lara was out of control and could not cope. Dr. Amigo was not called as a witness at the resentencing.

Ms. Carranza identified Mr. Lara at a subsequent lineup (R 989). They "took my jewelry and my money" (R 987). Her sister was knocking on the front door during the robbery (R 985). Mr. Lara did not physically injure Ms. Carranza or her sister.

After this detailed testimony about this unrelated offense, <u>**Dernis Siegel**</u> was called by the prosecution (R 991). Defense counsel renewed his objections, which the trial court overruled (R 991).

Dennis Siegel is an assistant state attorney in Broward County (R 992). In 1981-82 he was an assistant state attorney in Dade County (R 992). He testified that he was present in the courtroom on October 26, 1982, when Mr. Lara was convicted of "sexual battery involving Odalys Cardozo" Fmero (R 992). He also testified that he was present in the courtroom when Mr. Lara was convicted of the robbery of Raquel Carranza (R 993). The State introduced certified copies of the convictions, defense counsel renewed his objections and the court overruled the objections (R 993).

Assistant State Attorney Siegel testified that Grisel Fumero was a witness in the Odalys Fumero sexual bottery case (R 994-95). Defense counsel's objections to questions about "the defendant [being] released on bond" were overruled (R 997). Siegel testified that the docket sheet indicated he had been released on bond (R 998).

Odalys Cardozo Fumero was the next prosecution witness (R 1006) Defense counsel renewed his objections to this testimony, which the court overruled (R 007). Ms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Odalys is the sister of Grisel Fumero, the decedent in this case. Mr. Lara pled guilty in that case after his capital conviction and death sentence. He was assured that that case would not be used against him in any subsequent proceedings. His counsel from that case (Stuart Adelstein), however, was not called at the resentencing to explain this. Mr. Lara was charged with sexual battery and carnal intercourse with a person under eighteen (R 2845).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This conviction also occurred <u>after</u> the capital conviction and involved the assurance to Mr. Lora described in the preceding footnote.

Fumero testified that she was "close" to her sister, Grisel; "α lot" close (R 1008). She testified that on March 7, 1981, she accompanied Grisel "on a date with her boyfriend, Frank Rizzo" (R 1008). She, Grisel, Rizzo and Mario went to α club (R 1009). There was music going on αt the club and she and the others were drinking (R 1010-12).

They then drove to a friend'shouse; Frank Rizzo and Grisel Fumero stayed in the car; Odalys Fumero and Mario Lara went in the house (R 1014). She testified that in the house Mr. Lara took her pants off; hit her (R 1016); and raped her (R 1018). She testified that "[w]hen the defendant raped" her, it hurt (R 1018). She said that she told him he "was going to pay for this" and he told her to "shut up" and "get dressed" (R 1018). When they got home, she told Grisel "that Frank's friend raped" her (R 1019). Odalys first testified that her sister did not notice anything about her face or body when they got home (R 1019). Later, she testified that "[a]ll my mouth [was] swollen and I was bruised..." (R 1020). A Halloween photo of Odalys and her family was shown to the jury (R 1020-21).

Grisel Fumero was in love with Frank Rizzo and asked Odalys not to tell her mother (R 1022). However, a few days later they told their mother and the mother went to the police (R 1022). Charges were filed (R 1023).

Sqt. John Buhrmaster was the next State witness. He is with the Miami Police Department (R 1024). He was involved in the Raquel Carranza robbery case (R 1024-25). He spoke with Ms. Carranza (R 1025). He arrested Mr. Lara (R 1026). Ms. Carranza identified the "skinny person" as Lara (R 1027-28).

Sgt. Buhrmaster then described Mr. Lara's being released on bond (R 1028). He then became "aware that the defendant was a subject or defendant in [the] rape case" (R 1028). He arrested Mr. Lara on March 16, 1981 (R 1028). He described the "defendant['s] ... [being] released on bond" in that case -- April of 1981 (R 1028). He also

went to **the** scene "of a double homicide that occurred ... on July 16, 1981" (R 1028-29). He was shown and identified the photos (R 1029, 1031, 1035, 1037, 1038, 1039).

The **female** who had been shot (Grisel Fumero) was downstairs in the kitchen (R 1030). Casings and the gun were found on the kitchen floor (R 1030). When Mr. Lara was arrested, he told the police that the "murder weapon" was at his home (R 1034)-- i.e., the "scene." Mario Lara, Arsenio Lara (Mario 'sbrother), Frank Rizzo, Tomas Barcelo and Grisel Fumero all lived there, and Olga Elviro -- Mr. Lara's girlfriend -- stayed there often.

After this introductory testimony, the prosecution asked Sgt. Buhrmaster detailed questions about Olga Elviro (R 1035). He testified that a knife was found at the home and it had blood on it (R 1036). He "found a ... body of a young female [Olga Elviro] ... in the upstairs bedroom" (R 1036). He described the room, beds, mattresses, miscellaneous clothing, sheets and pillow cases from the room (R 1036). The exhibits from the bedroom were shown to the jury (R 1036-37). He described the photographs (R 1037-39). He discussed the condition of the body in detail (R 1038-39).

Sgt. Buhrmaster said that "the defendant was [arrested] in ... New Jersey ... hiding in a woman's apartment" (R 1040). He was present in the courtroom "when the defendant was convicted ... of the robbery of Raquel Carranza and the sexual battery rape of Odalys Cardozo Fumero" (R 1040-41).

The prosecution read to the jury the testimony of <u>Morgarita Martinez</u> from the original trial (R 1044). She knew Olga Elviro (R 1045). She knew Mario Lara (R 1046). Mario and Olga (Elviro) were boyfriend and girlfriend. They were going steady (R 1047).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>As noted earlier, the original jury convicted Mr. Lara of second degree murder on the count involving Olga Elviro. Grisel Fumero was the decedent in this capital sentencing. As the State witness testimony reflects, Grisel Fumero was not the focus of the State's presentation. Defense counsel's previous objections and warnings about the unfairness of such a proceeding had been overruled.

She met Grisel Fumero "once ... when she visited my home with Francisco [Rizzol, her boyfriend" (R 1047). She met Grisel a "few days" before the murder (R 1048). The day she met Grisel (Fumero): Mario (Lara), Olga (Elviro ... Mario's girlfriend), Francisco (Rizzo -- Grisel's boyfriend), and Grisel (Fumero) all had visited her house and were there together (R 1048). Ms. Martinez had "a private talk ... with Olga ... about her relationship with Mario" (R 1049).

On the evening of the offense,Olga came to her house (R 1050). Mario also came over (R 1050). They had also been over briefly in the afternoon (R 1050). That evening, Olga and Mario were talking. Mmio wanted Olga to leave with him (R 1052).

Margarita Martinez testified that "[h]is eyes were different" and that he said he was going to kill Olga and Margarita (R 1053). Olga told Margarita she was going to speak with Mario and called to him (R 1054). "[H]e was talking to me from the sofa when he said he was going to kill **the** two of us ..." (R 1054). Mario went to the car and got a small gun and a larger gun (R 1056-57). Then, "he started talking to me, when he told her he was going to kill her and all that" (R 1057). Ms. Martinez thought "at the beginning" that Mario was not serious (R 1057), but then "he pointed the revolver at us" (R 1057). Ms. Martinez testified that she fainted(R 1057), but heard things when she was on the floor (R 1057-58). She described what she heard:

[Olga]hugged me and she was crying and she told him that I had a heart trouble, that he had killed me.

He said, "No, I didn't do it. She's not dead. I have a brother who has this kind of trouble."

He brought the fan, the ventilator, and he started to stroke my chest with his hand (R 1058).

Ms. Martinez said, "Takeme to the doctor ... [s]o he took me to the hospital with [Olga]" (R 1058-59). "He helped me. Mario and [Olga]helped me" (R 1059).

Olga told him "not to take the guns. He said,'No, I'm not going to take the guns.' He went and put them underneath my bed." (R 1060). They locked up her house (R 1059). Mario did not have the guns with him after that (R 1059). The guns were not in the car (R 1059), they were left in her house (R 1059-60).

When Margarita was in the hospital, Olga told her that "Mario didn't want to do anything ... he's out there and he's almost crying because he sees that you're like this" (R 1060). Margarita asked Mario to come in und

he stroked my head with his hund and he said, "I didn't want to hurt you." So I said, "Well, no, that's nothing" and he kissed me and ... said, "We'll be out there." (R 1060).

When Olga "come in and told me he was upset and he was crying, I told him to come in, and that's when I told him, 'Don'tworry, **There's**nothing wrong with me" (R 1086). Olga told Margarita that Fremeisco (Rizzo)was coming to see her (R 1061).

Francisco came to the hospital (R 1062-63). Olga and Mario left (Id.). Francisco left with Margarita when she was discharged a little later (R 1063). They went to Mario's/Francisco's/Grisel's home (R 1063). As they went in, Francisco called for Arsenio (Mario'sbrother) and Margarita saw Grisel shot on the kitchen floor (R 1063). The lights were on in the house -- it was all lighted (R 1064). Francisco (Rizzo) said, "They've killed what I loved the most" (R 1064). She told Rizzo to *take* her home (R 1064). On the way, he stopped a patrol car (R 1065).

Ms. Martinez learned that Olga (Elviro) had been killed from an investigator (R 1066). She testified about what Olga and Mario were wearing (R 1068-69). Mario's shoes were clogs (R 1082).

The prosecution then read the jury the original trial testimony of <u>Tomas Barcelo</u> (R 1087). **He** testified about how he came to the United States from Cuba (R 1087-90). In 1981, he lived in Miami (R 1090). He moved in with Arsenio Lara; Mario and Francisco Rizzo also lived there as did Grisel Fumero (R 1091-92, 1135). Other people also lived in **the** house (R 1135). Mario, *Arsenio*, Francisco, and Grisel all lived in the same apartment downstairs (R 1094, 1135). Grisel and Francisco had a relationship (R 1094).

Olga Elviro was Mario's girlfriend (R 1105). Barcelo testified that Mario told him Olga "didn't want to be with him any longer because of what they had told her" (R 1105).

Barcelo went to sleep *at* 11:00 p.m. (R 1109). He knew nothing about Margarita Martinez going to the hospital (R 1109). Later, Mario knocked on his door (R 1109); he was with Olga, his girlfriend (R 1110); they went in to use the room (R 1110). Mario and Olga had used the room in the past (R 1111, 1114).

Barcelo left and sat outside (R 1115). He *sat* for about a half hour and did not hear anything (R 1115, 1142-43). **He** *saw* Mario come out and start "knocking" on his own first floor door (R 1116, 1143). Grisel opened the door; Mario walked in; Barcelo went and followedhim in (R 1116). Grisel and Barcelo went to the kitchen (R 1118).

Mario came out of **the** bedroom area into the kitchen (R 1120). His "foot" and "leg" were "shaking" (R 1120). "He told Grisel It's your fault that I have lost everything" (R 1121). Mario had Arsenio's gun from the bedroom (R 1121, 1157-58). "He fires" (R 1122). Grisel said "Mario, why are you doing that to me" (R 1122). Mario said "Why am I doing that? Son of a bitch" (R 1122).

Mario kept pulling the trigger and "[w]hen it didn't fire any longer, he continued firing, but it didn't fire any more" (R 1123). "I turned towards him and I told him he was a murderer" (R 1123). He said, "Oh, I'm a murderer?" (R 1123). He kept pulling the trigger

at Grisel; it "sounded like clack, clack"; "[n]o more bullets left...[b]ut he kept pulling the trigger" (R 1 123-24).

Mario remained standing in the same place pulling the trigger of the empty gun (R 1124). Then, he "started putting [other] bullets in, laughing. Q: Laughing? A: Yes" (R 1124).

Arsenio came into the kitchen in his underwear (R 1125). He told Mario, "My brother, have you gone crazy? You're a murderer" (R 1125). Mario told him that he was going to kill [Arsenio] too" (R 1125). Arsenio told Barcelo to leave. He said, "My brother's gone crazy" (R 1125). Mario remained on the same spot. Barcelo left (R 1125). Arsenio and "an uncle of Mario's" later found Barcelo in the yard (R 1127). Arsenio told him to leave, "that he was going to call the police" (R 1128). On the day after the incident, Barcelo told Margarita Martinez that Mario had "gone crazy" (R 1158).

### The Defense Case for Mitigation

Carmenlina Lara lives in Miami (R1167). She is 57 years old (R1169) and has two children -- a 29 and 23 year old (R1167). She and Mario are first cousins (R1168). Mario's father is her uncle (R1168). She knows all the members of Mario's family (R1169-70). She knew Mario and the family in Cuba and was in close contact with them (R1169-70). She lived within a short walking distance ("about half a block", R.1174) and saw them daily (R1174). The town where Carmenlina and the Laras lived is rural and far from Havana (R1169-70). Carmenlina was present when Mario was born -- "that's out in the country and you don't go to the doctor" (R1170). Mario was born in 1956 (R1173).

The place where Mario and his mother and siblings lived "wasn't really a house.

It was a roof, two walls ..." (R 1170). It was a room with "dirt floors," no bathrooms, no

showers (R 117]). Mario's mother, Mario and Mario's seven brothers and sister lived in that squalor (R 117]). The room was "very small", a "small piece" (R 117]).

There was no "stove to cook food" (R 1173). The room had no tables, no furniture at all other than a small bed that the father would use when he came to sleep with Mario's mother (R 1173). The children slept on the dirt floor (R 1173).

The father did not live in there (R 1173). He had an adjacent house where he lived (R 1173-74). The house where he lived and the shack where he kept his family were on the same farm (R 1174). The house where the father lived had two bedrooms, a living room, a dining room, a kitchen, good floors and a good roof (R 1175). The father would have lunch and dine in his house, away from the family (R 1175).

Mario was treated "very brutally" by his father (R 1175). From the day Mario was born and throughout Mario's childhood the father "would hit the mother two or three times a week and then him [Mario] he would hit everyday" (R 1175-76). He would beat the mother "in front of the children" (R 1176). The father was 'violent" and used "wood or a can," "his fist" and "[w]hatever he would find in front of him" in his beatings (R 1176). Carmenlina and the children would see the mother "bleed" and "bruises, damages" because of the beatings --she also "had a miscarriage at eight months because of one of the beatings" (R 1177). As a young child, Mario saw his mother beaten into the miscarriage (R 1177, 1178). Ever since Mario was born, he saw these beatings (R 1177). On one occasion when the father was striking "Mario brutally [Mario's mother] entered and went to take [Mario] away from him. He pushed her. He smacked her around . . . She said that she could not take anymore... She took two containers of what they call rapid ink which is a liquid that is used for polishing shoes." (R 12 16). She attempted suicide as a result of seeing the brutality her son suffered (R 12 16- 17).

The father made the mother take care of his cocks (R 1177). Since the cocks would fight, they would be bruised and then the father would go "at her and he hit her" (R 1178). Mario saw his mother brutally beaten (R 1178). Mario would cry over this (R 1178).

Cormenling saw the father mistreat and beat Mario from when he was "a year old until he left for the military service" (R 1178). The father would beat Mario and the other children "for whatever reason" (R 1178). If they are eggs or plantains or went to the cockpit, they would be beaten (R 1178).

Almost everyday he would hit [Mario] that I remember. I remember alot. One time it was because he climbed a coconut tree, . . He hit him. There was a stick next to the tree and he hit him. He broke two ribs and he dislocated a kidney. [Mario] was in the hospital . . . about three months (R 1179).

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