IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

JUN 19 1996

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

CASE NO. 79,849

MARIO LARA,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Office of Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 331 01 (305)377-5441

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. The claim regarding the CCP aggravator was not preserved for appeal and, alternatively, is harmless error.
- II. The claim that the court failed to advise the jury of the defendant's sentences for prior offenses is not preserved for appeal, and, is meritless, as the court is not required to instruct the jury as to non-capital sentences.
- III. Claims regarding prosecutorial comments and evidentiary presentation have not been preserved for appeal, and, furthermore, relate to matters for which the evidence was admissible.
- IV. The <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u> claim is not preserved for appeal and lacks merit, as the prosecutor did not minimize the role of the jury.
- V. The claim alleging that the State misled the jury regarding expert witnesses is not preserved for appeal and, additionally, is refuted by the record.
- VI. Photographs introduced into evidence were relevant and were therefore properly admitted.
- VII. The claim regarding the "hindering governmental function" aggravator is not preserved for appeal, Additionally, that factor was properly applied on the basis of the

evidence herein.

VIII. The claim regarding jury selection has not been properly preserved for appeal. Additionally, a full **Neil** inquiry demonstrated that the prosecutor's peremptory challenges were supported by valid race-neutral reasons.

IX. The absence of written jury instructions from the record does not deprive the Appellant of full and fair appellate review as the transcript includes a verbatim recitation of the instructions given to the jury.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Ι.

THE JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM WITH RESPECT TO THE COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED AGGRAVATING FACTOR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

The resentencing herein was conducted prior to the decision of this Court in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 85, 90 (Fla. 1994), and that of the United States Supreme Court in <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992). There was no mention of unconstitutionality or vagueness of the CCP jury instruction. The State thus submits that the instant claim is not preserved for appeal. Moreover, in light of the evidence presented, arguments of counsel, and the trial judge's findings herein, the error in the CCP instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. Preservation

Defense counsel herein submitted three (3) jury instructions with respect to the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator (CCP). At the jury instruction conference, defense counsel, in response to the judge's question as to the first requested instruction with respect to CCP, stated that this aggravator was not applicable in light of the evidence presented, and that he was requesting that the jury not be instructed on same. (T. 1485-87, R. 2575-77). According to defense counsel, the evidence presented herein reflected a "domestic dispute", which negated cold, calculated premeditation, pursuant to this Court's decisions in <u>Santos v. State</u>, 591

So. 2d 160 (Fla. 1992) and <u>Douglas v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1991). <u>Id</u>. The trial court found said cases relied upon by the defense to be inapplicable, and denied the defense request that the jury not be instructed on CCP. (T. 1487, R. 2577).

Subsequently, again in response to the trial judge's questions with respect to the second defense requested instruction on the definition of "cold and calculated," defense counsel stated, "There really isn't any definition of cold and calculated that is sufficient." (T. 1489, R. 2579). The trial court thus denied the requested instruction. (T. 1490, R. 2580). Defense counsel then relied upon Roaers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987) and Santos, supra, for the position that murders committed with "emotion or passion" are not cold or calculated. (T. 1491-92, R. 2580-81). The State responded that defense counsel was again relying upon "domestic" situations, which were not applicable herein. (T. 1491, R. 2581). The trial judge thus denied the defense request. Id.

With respect to the last defense requested instruction as to this aggravator, defense counsel argued that he had "tracked" the language in the case law from this Court. (T. 1493, R. 2583). The trial judge agreed that this Court's precedents, "establish a standard for the jury's consideration and the [trial] court's consideration in imposing the death sentence." (T. 1493, R. 2583). The trial judge ruled, however, that every correct statement of the law does not require a jury instruction thereon:

THE COURT: I am denying it for the reason that I think these opinions from the Supreme Court interpreting these things establish a standard for the Jury's consideration and the Court's consideration in imposing the death sentence or not, but does not establish the requirement that the Court instruct the Jury on those things. For example, if the Jury should find that and the Court should ultimately impose the

death sentence and finds there were these factors, for example, then the Supreme Court in examining the basis for it would turn it aside saying this is not the case and so it would be silly for me to even say that I agree with it because I am compelled to agree with it. It is by the supreme Court but as far as putting that in an instruction, I think that is for the jury to determine and me to rule on if I get that far.

What do you wish to address, Mr. Rosenblatt?

MR. ROSENBLATT [Assistant State Attorney]: I was just going to say there was an opinion out of the Third District Court of Appeals where they expressed exactly what your Honor is saying that merely because it is an appropriate statement of law does not mean it makes a good jury instruction.

THE COURT: Okay, I am denying number seven.

(T. 1493-94, R. 2583-84).

As seen above, defense counsel's arguments at the resentencing may be fairly characterized as having taken the position that the CCP aggravator was not at all applicable because the evidence herein allegedly reflected a "domestic" situation, and that there were no "sufficient" definitions for the terms cold and calculated. There were no objections on the grounds that the standard jury instructions herein were "vague" or "unconstitutional." As such, the objections in the court below should not be deemed to have preserved the instant claim for appellate review. See, Roberts v. Sinaletary, 626 So. 2d 168, 169 (Fla. 1993) ("The record here does not reflect any objection on the grounds of unconstitutionality or vagueness of the instruction given. Instead, defense counsel objected to the applicability of the instruction in this case. We have repeatedly held that claims are procedurally barred where there was a failure at trial to object to the instruction on the grounds of vagueness or unconstitutionality

[Citations omitted]"); Windom v. State, 656 So. 2d 432, 439 (Fla. 1995) (general objection to the CCP instruction that, "I would object to that on those grounds, constitutional grounds, basically," is insufficient); Street v, State, 636 So. 2d 1297, 1303 (Fla. 1994) (claim of erroneous jury instruction procedurally barred where the instruction requested was insufficient).

B. Harmless Error

In the event that the objections in the court below are deemed to have preserved the instant claim, the State submits that any error herein was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, in light of the evidence presented, arguments of counsel, and the trial judge's findings herein. This Court has repeatedly held that giving the prior CCP standard jury instruction is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where, "the murder could only have been cold, calculated, and premeditated, without any pretense of moral or legal justification even if the proper instruction had been given." Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 387 (Fla. 1994); see also, Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1008 (Fla. 1994); Archer v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S1 19 (Fla. 1996).

B.I - Evidence Presented

In determining harmlessness, the evidence as to each of the four elements of this aggravator must be analyzed to determine whether it has been sufficiently established. Wuornos, 644 So. 2d at 1008. In making such a determination, the

prevailing party's theory of the case, when supported by substantial, competent evidence, controls; the judge and jury are entitled to reject contrary theories which are based upon self-serving or unbelievable, contradictory evidence. <u>Wuornos</u>, 644 So. 2d at 1008-09, citing <u>Walls</u>, 641 So. 2d at 387-88.

The first element to be thus considered is that the murder was "cold." <u>Id</u>. As noted by this Court, witness elimination killings by their "very nature" are cold. <u>Archer</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S119, citing <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 254, 259 (Fla. 1991). "The 'cold' element generally has been found wanting only for 'heated' murders of passion, in which the loss of emotional control is evident from the facts though perhaps also supported by expert opinion." <u>Walls</u>, 641 So. 2d at 387-88.

In the instant case, as detailed in argument VII herein, there was uncontroverted, direct evidence that the capital murder victim was a material witness, listed for the prosecution, in rape charges against the defendant made by the victim's sister. Again, pursuant to direct and uncontradicted evidence, the trial court found that the defendant had conspired, on numerous occasions and during a period of at least several days prior to the murder, with Frank Rizzo, the defendant's housemate who was also the capital murder victim's companion, to prevent the victim from testifying at his upcoming rape trial. The defendant himself had admitted that Rizzo was under his control; the defendant had insisted that Rizzo lure the victim to live at their house by promising her marriage. The victim had then in fact moved in. Rizzo's other girlfriend, however, had warned the victim, in the defendant's presence, of these plans, during the day before the commission of the murder. This plan having failed, the defendant then, according to eyewitness testimony, shot the victim, having

expressly told her, immediately prior to firing, that she was the cause of his problems. In light of such evidence, the trial court concluded that the motive for this murder was to prevent the victim from testifying at the defendant's rape trial. The State respectfully submits that the element of coldness has thus been established.

The second element is that the murder was the product of a prearranged design to commit murder before the fatal incident. Wuornos, 644 So. 2d at 1008. As noted above, the uncontroverted and direct evidence herein established that the defendant lured the victim to live in the same building where he resided. In the hours prior to the murder, the defendant had armed himself with two guns. While his girlfriend, Olga, persuaded him to leave these guns behind at Ms. Martinez's residence, the defendant did so, only with the knowledge that there was another gun at his house, in his brother's bedroom.⁴

The defendant then called the victim's companion, Rizzo, and asked him to go to the hospital, and take care of Ms. Martinez. While Rizzo was away at the hospital, the defendant went back to the house. He first murdered Olga in the upstairs apartment. He then came downstairs, headed straight for his brother's bedroom and retrieved the gun from under the pillow; there were additional bullets in the defendant's pocket. (T. 1123, R. 2204). The defendant then went to the kitchen, where the victim was standing with Mr. Barcello. The defendant approached the victim, while hiding the gun behind him. When he got within three (3) feet of the victim, he then began firing, having first announced his motive, as noted above. The

⁴ Mr. Barcello, another resident at the house, testified that it was the defendant's brother's custom and habit to place a gun under a pillow in the bedroom, whenever he was not at work.

State submits that, "[b]y definition, this sequence only could be the product of a careful plan or prearranged design." Wuornos, 644 So. 2d at 1008 (evidence that defendant had armed herself in advance, lured the victim to an isolated location, and proceeded to kill him so she could steal his belongings, was sufficient to satisfy the element of prearranged design, beyond a reasonable doubt).

The third element is that there must be "heightened premeditation," which this Court has found "present when the prevailing theory of the case established 'deliberate ruthlessness' in committing the murder." Wuornos, 644 So. 2d at 1008, citing Walls, 641 So. 2d at 388. In the instant case, the evidence established that the defendant first bound, gagged, raped, tortured and murdered Olga, in the upstairs apartment, during the course of at least thirty (30) minutes. The capital murder victim was then executed as set forth above. The defendant shot at this victim, from a distance of less than three (3) feet, until the gun was empty. After he fired the first bullet, the victim put her hand in front of her body, and asked the defendant, "Why are you doing that to me?" (T. 1122, R. 2203). The defendant responded, "Why am I doing that? Son of a bitch." Id. He continued to fire five (5) more times, as the victim was falling to the ground.

When Barcello exclaimed that the defendant was "a murderer", (T. 1123, R. 2204), the defendant laughed, took out the empty shells from the gun, and started getting more bullets out of his pocket. (T. 1 123-4, R. 2205). At this juncture, the defendant's brother entered the kitchen, and asked the defendant, "have you gone crazy? You're a murderer." (T. 1125, R. 2206). The defendant responded, "Keep calm I'm going to kill you too." <u>Id</u>. Barcello thus ran outside of the house and hid in

the yard. (T. 1125-26, R. 2206-07). The defendant came out looking for him, but did not find him. <u>Id</u>. The defendant was then seen driving away from the house. <u>Id</u>. He was later apprehended by the police, in New Jersey, hiding in a woman's apartment. (T. 1040, R. 1121). The State submits the third element has also been satisfied. <u>Wuornos</u>, <u>supra</u>; Walls, <u>supra</u>.

The fourth and final element is that the murder must have no pretense of moral or legal justification. Wuornos, 641 So. 2d at 1008. This element consists of "any colorable claim based at least partly on uncontroverted and believable factual evidence or testimony that, but for its incompleteness, would constitute an excuse, justification, or defense as to the homicide." Walls, 641 So. 2d at 388. This Court has, "repeatedly rejected claims that purely subjective beliefs of the defendant, without more, could establish a pretense of moral or legal justification." Id. The evidence in the instant case reflects that there was absolutely no provocation by the defenseless victim herein. The State submits that the final element of CCP has also been satisfied. Wuornos, supra; Walls, supra.

The Appellant has argued that the defendant suffered from, "substantial mental illness," "irrationality," substance abuse on the day of the murder, and, at the time of the murder, the defendant was under the influence of, "the hallucination of the voice of Bermudez [which] had instructed Mr. Lara to kill the first person he saw because that was the person that killed Olga Elviro." Appellant's brief at p. 61. The State respectfully submits that said claims are all based upon self-serving, contradictory and untrustworthy accounts, which are also inconsistent with the facts presented. The judge and jury were thus well within their discretion to reject these claims. Wuornos,

644 So. 2d at 1008-09; Walls, 641 So. 2d at 387-88.

First, as noted by the Appellant, the trial judge herein did indeed accept mitigation testimony that the defendant had a very abusive childhood, and that such abuse had a negative effect on the defendant when he became an adult. (R. 2912). The Appellant has, however, neglected to mention that the trial judge, based upon the conflicts in the mental health testimony, unequivocally rejected any claim that the defendant was mentally unbalanced at the time of the murder herein. Id. This conclusion is well supported by the record which reflects that not only was the basis for the defense mental health experts' opinions untrustworthy and inconsistent with the facts of the murder, but that the opinions contradicted each other as well.⁵

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